A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The trial court denied appellant his right of allocution. 

Issues pertaining to assignments of error

Appellant was sentenced following a negotiated plea agreement. 

At sentencing he asked the court to consider a mitigation package

prepared during negotiations for settlement of the case. The court refused, 

stating negotiations for settlement were not presented to the court. Where

a criminal defendant has the right to present any information to the court

in mitigation of sentence, did the court' s ruling deny appellant his right of

allocution? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 15, 2013, the Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney charged

appellant Chad Stands with two counts of attempting to elude a pursuing

police vehicle, three counts of second degree assault, and one count of

third degree assault. CP 26 -29. The State notified Stands that a

conviction of any of the second degree assault charges would be a third

strike, subjecting him to sentencing as a persistent offender. 
1RPI

8. 

After having communication difficulties with two appointed

attorneys, Stands moved to proceed pro se. 1RP 6 -7, 10 -11. The court

The Verbatim Report of Proceedings is contained in 5 volumes, designated as follows: 

1RP- 10/ 25/ 13; 2RP- 1/ 30/ 14; 3RP- 8/ 20/ 14; 4RP- 10/ 17/ 14; 5RP- 10/ 22/ 14. 
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granted his request to represent himself and also his request to have

appointed counsel serve as standby counsel. 1RP 14. While he was

representing himself, Stands worked with the Department of Assigned

Counsel to prepare a mitigation package. 2RP 5. He subsequently asked

the court to re- appoint counsel, and the court granted his motion. 2RP 10- 

12. 

The parties then negotiated a plea agreement under which Stands

pled guilty to two counts of third degree assault, one count of first degree

malicious mischief, and one count of attempting to elude. CP 53 -55, 57- 

66. Stands stipulated that the offenses were " separate course of conduct." 

CP 65; 3RP 6. He also stipulated to an exceptional sentence based on the

fact that his prior unscored misdemeanors and other current offenses

would result in a presumptive sentence that is clearly too lenient in light of

the purposes of the SRA. CP 65; 3RP 6. The agreed sentence

recommendation was for 60 months on each of the two assault counts, 40

months on the malicious mischief count, and 20 months on the attempt to

elude count, with all counts running consecutively, for a total of 180

months confinement. CP 60; 3RP 3. The recommended sentences on

counts III and IV were below the standard range, but run consecutively to

the other counts. 4RP 7 -8. 
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After the court accepted Stands' plea, defense counsel asked the

court to set sentencing over because Stands wanted various members of

the public and his tribe to be present. Counsel said he had advised Stands

that these people would not typically be allowed to speak at sentencing, 

but they could file written information with the court. 3RP 7. The court

indicated that it would review information submitted prior to sentencing. 

3RP 8 -9. 

At the sentencing hearing Stands asked for a continuance so that he

could submit his mitigation package for the court to review. 4RP 6 -7. 

Defense counsel told the court that the mitigation package had been

prepared for settlement of the third strike charge, which was a wholly

different purpose than sentencing, and counsel did not want to present

materials inconsistent with the plea agreement. 4RP 4. Counsel therefore

submitted an edited copy to the court for review. 4RP 5; CP 1 - 25. 

Stands told the court that the mitigation package had been prepared

for this case, and he believed it could be used for more than one purpose. 

4RP 6. The court said it was willing to consider information for

sentencing, and it would hear from the prosecutor, defense counsel, and

Stands, but it would not allow Stands to submit for sentencing the

mitigation package which was prepared for settlement. 4RP 7. The
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prosecutor and defense counsel then made the agreed sentence

recommendation. 4RP 7 - 10. 

When Stands was given the opportunity to speak, he told the court

he was still not satisfied with the court' s denial of his request to submit the

mitigation package. He repeated that, even though it was prepared for

negotiating the plea, it could be used for more than one purpose, and since

the agreed sentence includes two sentences below the standard range, it

was appropriate to present mitigating factors to the court. 4RP 11. 

The court responded that negotiations for settlement are not

presented to the court. 4RP 12. It indicated that it had considered the

edited mitigation materials presented by defense counsel. 4RP 12. It then

imposed the agreed upon sentence. 4RP 13; CP 72 -74, 82. Stands filed

this timely appeal. CP 92. 

C. ARGUMENT

THE COURT DENIED STANDS HIS RIGHT OF

ALLOCUTION. 

As an initial matter it should be noted that Stands is not seeking to

withdraw his plea, and the challenge raised on appeal does not breach the

plea agreement. Although Stands stipulated to the exceptional sentence as

agreed, he did not waive his right to allocution. 
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Washington State has afforded criminal defendants the right of

allocution since its inception. State v. Canfield, 154 Wn.2d 698, 703, 116

P. 3d 391 ( 2005). The right of allocution is guaranteed by RCW

9. 94A.500( 1), which states that "[ t] he court [ shall] ... allow arguments

from ... the offender... as to the sentence to be imposed." State v. Ellison, 

Wn. App. , 346 P. 3d 853, 855 ( 2015). Our Supreme Court has

specified that "[ a] llocution is the right of a criminal defendant to make a

personal argument or statement to the court before the pronouncement of

sentence. It is the defendant's opportunity to plead for mercy and present

any information in mitigation of sentence." Canfield, 154 Wn.2d at 701; 

Ellison, 346 P. 3d at 855. 

In this case, although Stands was permitted to address the court at

sentencing, Stands also asked the court to review his mitigation package

before pronouncing sentence. The court refused to do so. The court' s

objection was not that Stands was seeking to submit written materials. It

told Stands it would consider certain written information. The court

refused to consider the mitigation package offered by Stands on the basis

that the package was prepared for negotiation and settlement of the

charges. Allocution is the defendant' s opportunity to present any

information in mitigation of sentence, however. Canfield, 154 Wn.2d at

701; Ellison, 346 P. 3d at 855. Stands had worked with DAC to prepare

5



the mitigation package, and it was his desire that the court consider that

information before sentencing him. The court' s refusal to consider, or

even to let Stands submit, the mitigation package denied Stands his right

of allocution. 

This Court should remand for resentencing. Although the parties

stipulated to the sentence imposed, the court was not bound by that

stipulation and was free to impose any sentence supported by law. See CP

60; State v. Brown, 178 Wn. App. 70, 79, 312 P. 3d 1017 ( 2013) review

denied, 180 Wn. 2d 1004, 321 P. 3d 1206 ( 2014). Here, the sentencing

court failed to consider information it should have before imposing

sentence. Because this Court cannot assess what impact the mitigation

package might have had on the court' s decision, remand for resentencing

before a different judge is the appropriate remedy. See Brown, 178 Wn. 

App. at 80 -81 ( remand for resentencing where court failed to obtain

presentence investigation); State v. Crider, 78 Wn. App. 849, 861, 899

P. 2d 24 ( 1995) ( remand for resentencing before a different judge). 

D. CONCLUSION

Stands was denied his right of allocution. This Court should

reverse and remand for resentencing before a different judge, at which

Stands should be permitted to submit those portions of the mitigation

package he wants the court to consider before imposing sentence.