### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

V.

#### CHAD STANDS, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Vicki Hogan, Judge

No. 13-1-02821-4

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By
KATHLEEN PROCTOR
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 14811

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

# **Table of Contents**

A.	ISSUES PERTAINING TO APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR			
	1.	Has the defendant failed to preserve his claim that the scope of his allocution was improperly limited when he made no objection to the scope of his allocution in the tria court?		
	2.	Did defendant receive his statutory right to allocution who the court read all defense submitted written mitigation materials and defendant was allowed to make a pre- sentencing statement to the court without interruption?		
B.	STAT	STATEMENT OF THE CASE.		
C.	ARG	<u>UMENT</u>	4	
	1.	DEFENDANT'S CLAIM THAT HIS RIGHT TO ALLOCUTE WAS VIOLATED IS BOTH PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND MERITLESS	4	
D.	CON	CLUSION.	10	

# **Table of Authorities**

State Cases				
<i>In re Echeverria</i> , 141 Wn.2d 323, 340, 6 P.3d 573 (2000) 4, 6-7, 8, 9				
State v. Aguilar-Rivera, 83 Wn. App. 199, 203, 920 P.2d 623 (1996)5				
State v. Canfield, 154 Wn.2d 698, 708, 116 P.3d 391 (2005)4, 5, 7, 9				
State v. Crider, 78 Wn. App. 849, 860, 899 P.2d 24 (1995)				
State v. Ellison, _Wn. App_, 346 P.3d 853, 856 (Wash. Ct. App. 2015)				
State v. Guloy, 104 Wn. 2d 412, 422, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985)5				
State v. Hatchie, 161 Wn.2d 390, 406, 166 P.3d 698, 707 (2007)5				
State v. Hughes, 154 Wn.2d 118, 153, 110 P.3d 1985 (2005)5				
State v. Padilla, 69 Wn. App. 295, 300, 846 P.2d 564 (1993)5				
Federal and Other Jurisdictions				
Hill v. United States, 368 U.S. 424, 428, 82 S. Ct. 468, 7 L. Ed. 2d 417 (1962)				
<i>U.S. v. Kellogg</i> , 955 F.2d 1244, 1250 (9 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 1992)				
Statutes				
RCW 9.94A.500(1)7, 8				
Rules and Regulations				
RAP 12.1(a)8				

# A. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENTS OF</u> ERROR.

- 1. Has the defendant failed to preserve his claim that the scope of his allocution was improperly limited when he made no objection to the scope of his allocution in the trial court?
- 2. Did defendant receive his statutory right to allocution when the court read all defense submitted written mitigation materials and defendant was allowed to make a pre-sentencing statement to the court without interruption?

#### B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>.

On August 20<sup>th</sup>, 2014, Chad Stands ("defendant") pleaded guilty to two counts of third degree assault (counts I, II), one count of first degree malicious mischief (count III), and one count of attempting to elude (count IV). CP 57-66; 3RP 2-6. According to the affidavit for probable cause, law enforcement signaled for the defendant to stop his car after observing suspicious driving behavior. CP 98. The defendant then led police on a high speed chase in a car reported as stolen. *Id.* While being pursued, the defendant traveled southbound in northbound lanes along Pacific Avenue, ignored traffic signals, and reached speeds of up 60 mph in a 35 mph zone

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The defendant agreed to the use of the affidavit of probable cause to establish the factual basis for his plea. CP 65.

and 90 mph on Interstate 5. CP 98-99. The defendant intentionally rammed his vehicle into a marked patrol car with a deputy seated inside. CP 99. He then attempted a similar maneuver on another patrol car with two officers seated inside, but was unsuccessful. CP 99-100. The defendant's vehicle was eventually disabled and he was taken into custody. *Id*.

The defendant accepted a plea agreement that allowed him to avoid a third strike conviction for second degree assault. 4RP 10, 12<sup>2</sup>. The agreement stipulated a joint sentencing recommendation for exceptional sentences of 60 months for both counts I and II to reflect the aggravating circumstances of the defendant's crime and below standard range sentences of 40 and 20 months respectively for counts III and IV. CP 58,60. The joint recommendation requested that all four sentences be served consecutively. CP 60, 65.

At the initial sentencing hearing, the defendant asked that his sentencing be postponed to allow him time to submit letters of support and other materials from a mitigation package originally prepared for settlement negotiations. 3RP 7-8. The court rescheduled the hearing,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Verbatim Report of Proceedings is contained in 5 volumes, designated as follows: 1RP-10/25/13; 2RP-1/30/14; 3RP-8/20/14; 4RP-10/17/14; 5RP-10/22/14.

received the materials submitted by the defense, and reviewed them before imposing sentence. 3RP 8; 4RP 5-7, 12-13; CP 101, 1-25.

At the rescheduled sentencing hearing, the defendant expressed a desire for the court to review not only the mitigation materials submitted to the court, but also to review documents his defense attorney chose not to submit with the mitigation materials. 4RP 4-6; CP 1-25. The Honorable Vicki Hogan invited the defendant to express his concerns about those documents during the allocution, but the defendant did not specifically reference the omitted materials during his allocution. 4RP 7, 10-12.

The defendant was then afforded the opportunity to make a statement to the court prior to sentencing and he spoke without interruption. 4RP 10-12. Following his statement the court imposed its sentence, which conformed to the joint recommendation. 4RP 12-13. The defense did not raise any complaint or objection that the defendant was not given sufficient time or opportunity to allocute. 4RP 10-13. The defendant timely filed notice of appeal. CP 22.

#### C. ARGUMENT.

1. DEFENDANT'S CLAIM THAT HIS RIGHT TO ALLOCUTE WAS VIOLATED IS BOTH PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND MERITLESS.

The right of allocution is a statutory right that affords a criminal defendant the opportunity to address the court prior to sentencing to plead for mercy or mitigation. *See In re Echeverria*, 141 Wn.2d 323, 340, 6 P.3d 573 (2000); *See also Hill v. United States*, 368 U.S. 424, 428, 82 S. Ct. 468, 7 L. Ed. 2d 417 (1962). The Washington statute provides that "The court shall...allow arguments from...the offender...as to the sentence to be imposed." RCW 9.94A.500(1). Allocution is not a constitutional right and is purely statutory in nature. *State v. Canfield*, 154 Wn.2d 698, 708, 116 P.3d 391 (2005).

Allocution is a limited right that is satisfied once a defendant has been given adequate opportunity to make a statement requesting mercy or mitigation at sentencing. *See e.g.*, *Echeverria*, 141 Wn. 2d at 338; *State v. Ellison*, \_Wn. App\_, 346 P.3d 853, 856 (Wash. Ct. App. 2015); *See also U.S. v. Kellogg*, 955 F.2d 1244, 1250 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1992). The court has wide discretion to limit arguments presented in a defendant's allocution that are irrelevant to sentencing or mitigation. *See Ellison*, \_Wn. App\_, 346 P.3d at 855-856; *Canfield*, 154 Wn.2d at 701.

a. The assigned error regarding allocution is not reviewable due to the defendant's failure to preserve the issue in the lower court.

An alleged violation of the right to allocution cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. State v. Hatchie, 161 Wn.2d 390, 406, 166 P.3d 698, 707 (2007); State v. Hughes, 154 Wn.2d 118, 153, 110 P.3d 1985 (2005), (overruled in part on other grounds). To properly preserve an allocution claim, a defendant must make a specific and timely objection to the delivery of the sentence and request, as remedy, a new sentencing hearing before a different judge. See Canfield, 154 Wn.2d at 707; State v. Aguilar-Rivera, 83 Wn. App. 199, 203, 920 P.2d 623 (1996); State v. Padilla, 69 Wn. App. 295, 300, 846 P.2d 564 (1993); State v. Crider, 78 Wn. App. 849, 860, 899 P.2d 24 (1995). If the court fails to correct the error and continues with sentencing; the issue is then properly preserved for appeal. See Aguilar-Rivera, 83 Wn. App at 203. An objection must specify the particular ground on which it is based and be made in a timely manner in order to preserve the question for review. See State v. Guloy, 104 Wn. 2d 412, 422, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985).

The defendant failed to raise any specific objection to the allocution or sentencing process. 4RP 10-13. Prior to sentencing, the court provided the defendant the opportunity to speak. 4RP 10-12. During his allocution, the defendant initially expressed some dissatisfaction with the

court's decision not to review certain written materials related to the plea negotiations that were never submitted to the court. 4RP 11. He then completed his statement without interruption and did not raise any objections to the scope of his allocution. 4RP 10-13. The court then delivered sentence, conforming to the joint recommendation. 4RP 13-15.

The only statement even remotely approaching an objection to sentencing occurred after the court was completing post-sentencing administrative matters when the defendant stated "I want to appeal this." 4RP 16-17. He did not specify a particular aspect of the trial he wished to appeal and this statement occurred well after the allocution and sentencing. 4RP 17-19. A general statement alluding to a desire to file an unspecified appeal does not constitute a particularized objection to the allocution or sentencing process. Further, the defendant's statement could not be considered a timely objection because it was given after allocution and sentencing had occurred. Therefore, the assigned error has not been preserved for appeal.

b. The defendant was fully afforded his right to allocution and had ample occasion to present mitigating factors to the court before sentencing.

A defendant's right of allocution is not an unlimited mandate to address the court. *See Ellison*, \_\_Wn. App\_, 346 P.3d at 855; *Echeverria*,

141 Wn.2d at 336. To meet the statutory burden imposed by RCW 9.94A.500(1), the court is only required to provide a defendant sufficient opportunity to make a statement related to his sentencing. *Echeverria*, 141 Wn.2d at 341. It is within a trial court's discretion to limit the content of statements made or documents submitted during allocution to pleas for mercy or presentation of mitigating factors. *See Crider*, 78 Wn. App. at 857-858; *Ellison*, \_Wn. App. \_, 346 P.3d at 856; *Echeverria*, 141 Wn.2d at 336; *Canfield*, 154 Wn.2d at 703.

The defendant was fully afforded his right to allocute. The court considered all written mitigation materials submitted by the defense and the defendant verbally addressed the court immediately prior to sentencing. 4RP 5, 7, 10-12. Defense counsel purposefully omitted certain documents related to plea negotiations from the materials submitted to the court so as not to undermine the plea agreement. 4RP 4-5. While the defense did not submit these documents to the court, the defendant was permitted to address their perceived relevance in his allocution statement. 4RP 4-5, 11.

The content of these materials is not specified and the defendant has not made the omitted documents part of the record on review. 4RP 5-6, 11, 17. The only indication of the documents' content in the non-sealed record comes from verbatim transcripts that refer to them as related to the

plea agreement and include the defense describing them as "inconsistent with our [plea] agreement." 4RP 4-7.

Defendant did not challenge the effectiveness of his attorney. This is probably due to the fact that a strategic decision by counsel not to submit certain documents to the court so as not to violate the terms of a plea agreement cannot be the basis for a deficient performance.

Therefore, defendant cannot show that his right to allocute was violated by their omission based upon the record before this court.

Defendant cannot even show that the omitted documents would be relevant to sentence mitigation and so would not be proper in an allocution setting. In such a case, the court would be within its discretion to limit<sup>3</sup> the inclusion or discussion of these materials in the defendant's allocution.

See Ellison, \_Wn. App.\_, 346 P.3d at 856; Echeverria, 141 Wn.2d at 336-37. The court is only required to "allow arguments from...the offender."

RCW 9.94A.500(1). There is no requirement that any documents be reviewed by the court and the right is satisfied after the defendant is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Some of the defendant's arguments appear to suggest that the court erred in not admitting certain document during allocution. The defendant assigned no error concerning the admissibility of documents, rendering the claim non-reviewable. Br. Of App. p. 1; RAP 12.1(a). A review of admissibility is unnecessary because error was not properly assigned. Br. of. App. p 1.

permitted to address the court prior to sentencing. *Echeverria*, 141 Wn.2d at 336-37; *Ellison*, Wn. App., 346 P.3d at 855-56.

Consequently, even if there was some admissible content in these documents, defendant fails to show how he was harmed when the court permitted him to address this information in his allocution and when the court ultimately sentenced him according to the joint recommendation. A direct statement by the defendant that puts forth factors he believes will mitigate the impending sentence is the hallmark of the allocution right and its limit. *See Ellison*, \_Wn. App.\_, 346 P.3d at 856; *Echeverria*, 141 Wn.2d at 336; *Canfield*, 154 Wn.2d at 701, 708. The court provided the defendant the opportunity to allocute and explicitly invited the defendant to address the perceived mitigation value of these documents. 4RP 7, 11-12. Therefore, his allocution right was satisfied, no matter the contents of the documents in question.

# D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>.

The defendant's sentence should be affirmed because the alleged allocution error is unreviewable and meritless.

DATED: AUGUST 14, 2015

MARK LINDQUIST

Pierce County

**Prosecuting Attorney** 

KATHLEEN PROCTOR

**Deputy Prosecuting Attorney** 

WSB # 14811

Neil Brown Appellate Intern